Dissertationes Forestales 57

Invasive insects in Europe - the role of climate change and global trade

Henri Vanhanen

Faculty of Forest Sciences University of Joensuu

Academic dissertation

To be presented with permission of the Faculty of Forest Sciences, University of Joensuu, for public criticism in Auditorium B1 of the University, Yliopistokatu 7, Joensuu, on March 14th 2008, at 12 o'clock noon.

Title of dissertation: Invasive insects in Europe - the role of climate change and global trade

Author: Henri Vanhanen

Dissertationes Forestales 57

Thesis Supervisors: Prof. Pekka Niemelä Faculty of Forest Sciences, University of Joensuu, Finland Prof. Heikki Roininen Faculty of Biosciences, University of Joensuu, Finland PhD. Timo Veteli Faculty of Biosciences, University of Joensuu, Finland

Pre-examiners: Prof. Kari Heliövaara Faculty of Agriculture and Forestry, Department of Forest Ecology, University of Helsinki, Finland Doc. Lauri Kaila Finnish Museum of Natural History, Division of Entomology, University of Helsinki

Opponent: Prof. Andrea Battisti Department of Environmental Agronomy–Entomology, University of Padova, Italy

ISSN 1795-7389 ISBN 978-951-651-202-3 (PDF)

(2008)

Publishers: Finnish Society of Forest Science Finnish Forest Research Institute Faculty of Agriculture and Forestry of the University of Helsinki Faculty of Forest Sciences of the University of Joensuu

Editorial Office: Finnish Society of Forest Science Unioninkatu 40A, FI-00170 Helsinki, Finland http://www.metla.fi/dissertationes **Vanhanen, H.M.** 2008. Invasive insects in Europe - the role of climate change and global trade. Dissertationes Forestales 57. 33p.

Available at http://www.metla.fi/dissertationes/df57.htm

Human induced inadvertent introductions of invasive forest insects have become a serious threat to both biodiversity and the economy, causing disturbance and direct damage to natural forests and commercial stands. The rates of forest pest invasions have increased with increased trade and travel between and within continents. There are 109 exotic phytophagous species known to have successfully invaded and established themselves on Europe's woody plants from both North America and Asia, and more will invade as international trade continues and its volume increases (I).

Risk analysis of potential invaders is a way to prevent or suppress the number of potential invasive species. Recognition of potential invaders and their major pathways helps to prevent or reduce introductions, since not all of the imported exotic insects are invasive, nor do they manage to establish themselves in novel environments. Successful colonization is governed by several factors independent of or dependent on the invading species. The most prominent factors governing successful establishment are the ecological opportunities on arrival and the competitiveness of the invader (I, II). Suitable climate and available host species are the most prominent factors, but species abilities or life history traits, e.g. wide tolerance of hosts, asexuality and tolerance of population gaps enhance the possibility for establishment (I, II). Also the number of invading individuals, i.e. the propagule pressure may be important in increasing the probability of establishing a viable population (II).

The risk of establishment is most severe where the main host species for the potential invader occurs naturally or is widely cultivated. Climatic comparisons and simulations of climatically or biogeographically suitable areas for targeted high risk species have become increasingly important in targeting preventive or eradicative efforts where they are most needed (III, IV). Climate-based modeling tools are also helpful in determining the potential risks posed by climate change induced range shifts of native and exotic insect species (III, IV, V). Range shifts and potential population fluctuation of forest pests to outbreak levels pose a potential threat to silviculture that should be considered when planning forest management practices.

Keywords: introduced species, wood boring insect, EPPO, CLIMEX, risk analysis, Lymantria spp., poleward shift

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This study was funded by Maj & Tor Nessling foundation and Finnish Forest Industry. I'm sincerely indebted to these organizations and for Heikki Roininen and Pekka Niemelä of all the help in getting finance for my study. This study was carried out at the Faculty of Forest Sciences and at the Faculty of Biosciences and was not done without additives. My humble appreciation to my friends, for the revitalizing coffee and beer, together with serious academic debates.

Through the years I have received valuable comments, ideas and help in writing and again, rewriting the papers. I'm truly grateful for cdr. Timo Veteli, whom laconically said: "I have 40h reserved for this, whether it would be on weekdays or on weekends". I guess it took more than those 40h without counting the numerous conversations and debates on just about anything. I'm truly privileged to have Pekka Niemelä as my supervisor; the contagious enthusiasm, endless optimism and continuous stream of ideas. Though I did not finish up all of the ideas, I have them all listed and will further them ASAP. Moreover, I want to thank William Mattson for boosting and giving life to our papers and Seppo Neuvonen and Heikki Roininen for their advices on the manuscripts.

For all the nights, festivities, entomological excursions, Imperial delicacies, adventures at Lemi, Tampere, Kerimäki, Juva, Hiidenmaa, Kuopio, and for the years to come I thereby thank the following people that have helped me pass through this; Ali, Antti, Hannu, Jaakko, Jenni, Jussi, Karri, Kati, Mari, Markku, Marko, Merja, Miiko, 2xMiikka, Pekka, Perttu, Saku and Vesa.

Though this is a start of something it is also an end of an era, therefore I'd like to take the opportunity to thank all those people who have helped and influenced me during the years. I'm grateful to Reijo Lähteenmäki for responding to enthusiasm of young boy filled of dreams and leading on to right tracks. I sincerely thank South Savo and North Karelia environmental centers, whole crew of Fisheries section in TE centre for South Savo and one fugitive in Nälkämaa, always happy and open Harri and Aki at Mikkeli fishery centre, and Environmental centre of the city of Mikkeli. I'm also grateful for Oulu branch of the Finnish Game and Fisheries Research Institute and especially life philosophies of Keijo Juntunen, helpful thoughts of Jaakko Erkinaro, Samu Mäntyniemi, Alpo Huhmarniemi, Ari Mikkonen, Jukka Kekäläinen and his alter ego Yrmy, and last but not least, Zoë "The Source of Error" Owers.

I'm truly grateful for Pesue Satola for the nights spent in the lilac bushes of the Heimari and hours and hours at Pähkeenselkä. Pesue von Lüders, Pesue Lahti, Pesue Hellgren, Pesue Kilpivaara and Pesue Häyhänen, for fueling and supporting my interests. Tomi, Mikko, Petri, Teemu, Toni, Juuso and all the other friends that have sat in the same boat, and stood beside me at backwaters of Leinakka, joined me for adventures down from Kymijoki through rapids at Kuusamo up to Artic Ocean in Finnmark. Ali, Antti, Eerik, Harri, Heikki, Jarmo, Juha, Marko and Tuomas for walkabouts in the wilderness. Pesue Vehviläinen for collecting numerous samples of nature for me to identify and needle.

I also want to thank Mikkelin koskikalastajat and the Puuska crew for fine company, good food and nights long remembered, and Moision kalamiehet bunch, especially Heikki, Rami and Pekka for all the support. My gratitude goes also to floorball/culturclub of Saksala, Elokuvakerho X and Entomological Society of Jyväskylä, namely Kari, Markus and Tomi.

I owe my deepest gratitude to my parents whom with love and guidance have patronized me and fully supported my interests during the childhood years. Big hugs and kisses to Marianna, Markus and Susanna whom also mould me into what I am. Though already past, I want to thank my grandparents whom also shared the same interests, supported me and from whom I inherited a set of values I'm proud to follow. And for the last I want cherish and cuddle Minna for everything and for easing my stress by relieving my mind of science with various kinds of household chores from time to time.

Whew, this has been exciting three year period. The dream that I had once came into light. As I stare at the mirror, I can see the explorer, red capped researcher that I've always wanted to be. I've surely been privileged to have the opportunity to spend time in the academic world as a researcher. For the past years I've had the pleasure to meet a bouquet of interesting people that I hope I will have a change to continue my excursion throughout this life.

Joensuu, February 2008

Henri Vanhanen

LIST OF ORIGINAL ARTICLES

The thesis is based on the following articles, which are referred to in the text by their Roman numerals.

- I Mattson, W., Vanhanen, H., Veteli, T.O., Sivonen, S. & Niemelä, P. 2007. Few immigrant phytophagous insects on woody plants in Europe: legacy of the European crucible? Biological Invasions 9(8): 957-974.
- II Vanhanen, H., Mattson, W., Veteli, T.O., Niemelä, P. & Raffa, K. Why bark beetles with aggregation pheromone communication are poor invaders: The shackles of specialization? Manuscript.
- III Vanhanen, H., Veteli, T.O. & Niemelä, P. Potential distribution ranges in Europe for Aeolesthes sarta (Solsky), Tetropium gracilicorne (Reitter) and Xylotrechus altaicus (Gebler), a CLIMEX analysis. Manuscript.
- IV Vanhanen, H., Veteli, T.O. & Niemelä, P. Potential distribution ranges in Europe for *Ips hauseri* (Reitter), *I. subelongatus* (Motschulsky) and *Scolytus morawitzi* (Semenov), a CLIMEX analysis. Manuscript.
- V Vanhanen, H., Veteli, T.O., Päivinen, S., Kellomäki, S. & Niemelä, P. 2007. Climate change and range shifts in two insect defoliators: gypsy moth and nun moth – a model study. Silva Fennica 41(4): 621–638.

Papers I and V are reprinted by permission from the publisher

CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	4
LIST OF ORIGINAL ARTICLES	6
ABBREVIATIONS	9
1. INTRODUCTION	10
2. SPECIES DISTRIBUTION AND BIOLOGICAL INVASIONS	10
2.1 Species distribution	10
2.2 Biological invasions	11
3. STAGES OF BIOLOGICAL INVASIONS	12
3.1 Arrival – pathways and origin	12
3.2 Establishment	13
3.2.1 Abiotic factors	13
3.2.2 Biotic factors	14
3.3 Dispersal	15
4. IMPACTS OF BIOLOGICAL INVASIONS	16
5. CLIMATE CHANGE AND BIOLOGICAL INVASIONS	16
6. PREDICTING AND PREVENTING INVASIONS	17
6.1 Tools for risk analysis and prediction	17
6.2 Intergovermental and govermental organizations	18
6.2.1 European and Mediterranean Plant Protection Organization and quarantipests for forestry	
6.2.2 Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service and the Port Information Network	19
7. AIMS AND METHODS OF THE STUDY	19

8. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	21
8.1 Checklist of nonnative species in Europe and species characteristics in establishment	21
8.2 Risk assessment based on climate modeling	23
8.3 Effect of climate change on native and potential invasive species	23
9. CONCLUSIONS	24
REFERENCES	

ABBREVIATIONS

APHIS	Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service
DAISIE	Delivering Alien Invasive Inventories for Europe
EPPO	European and Mediterranean Plant Protection Organization
EU	European Union
IPCC	Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change
NA	North America
PIN	Port Information Network
QPF	Quarantine Pests for Forestry
SRES	Special Report on Emissions Scenarios
USA	United States of America
USDA	United States Department of Agriculture

1. INTRODUCTION

"Jos kirva Venäjältä korjaisi viljasadon, kuoriainen Koloraadosta perunan, ei Suomessa olisi enää kansantaiteilijoita"

Though epic, the little poem holds a certain amount of truth in it. The folk artist would not die of hunger, but thrive in lack of inspiration. Exotic species seem to travel between continents nowadays, when even very exotic fruit and vegetables are brought fresh to our local stores. The speed and the growing amount of goods transported hold a threat.

Since the evolution of oxygen-producing Cyanobacteria, no single species has had such a large-scale global impact as humans. Both of the phenomena focused on in this thesis are global and are driven by economic growth: biological invasions and climate changeinduced range expansions of herbivorous forest species.

Socioeconomic growth has increased the overall production of a variety of goods as well as global trade in them. This has affected the biosphere in two drastic ways, which are considered to be the greatest threats to biodiversity and to human health and institutions globally. Increased international trade has provided a way for many harmful and harmless insect species to expand their distribution beyond geographical barriers that limited their distribution in the past. When biological invasions are combined with the effects of the climate change, the formerly climatically-driven distribution ranges of animals will broaden even more. Both of these phenomena are evident and they require immediate preventive action to change previously adopted practices.

2. SPECIES DISTRIBUTION AND BIOLOGICAL INVASIONS

Today people and species are more global. The world is rapidly unifying. While wireless communication connects distant continents, we are also connected to other far away locations via global trade and travel. Together with goods and people fauna and flora move, whether intentionally or unintentionally. The distribution of a species is not a static state. It fluctuates. A species will occupy areas that are suitable for it if it is transferred beyond the barriers that have prevented its dispersal to other suitable areas. This has presented a global problem, which is firstly reviewed in this thesis through its basic concepts: species distribution and biological invasions. As this thesis is about invasive forest insects, the introductory chapters will moreover concentrate on phytophagous insects, but examples of other invasive animals or plants may be used.

2.1 Species distribution

The basic definition of species distribution is that a species occupies a unique geographic range, where the population lives and breeds (Begon *et al.* 1996 and references therein). The distribution of poikilothermic animals is determined by abiotic (e.g. climate, geographical barriers) and biotic (e.g. host plants, interspecific competition, predators,

parasites, diseases) factors (Andrewartha & Birch 1954, Parmesan *et al.* 2005, Case *et al.* 2005 and references therein).

Two extreme ends of the distribution spectrum are cosmopolitan and endemic distribution. Cosmopolitan species have a very extensive distribution covering several continents, and endemic species have restricted distributional ranges on one continent or island (Begon *et al.* 1996, MacArthur 1972 and references therein).

A species distributional range is not static, but dynamic, fluctuating by dispersal of individuals or by extinction of species subpopulations (Hanski 1998, Holt *et al.* 2005 and references therein). Expanding distributional range and establishing populations in new areas require a change in abiotic or biotic factors of adjacent habitats within the population's capabilities of dispersal. Adjacent habitats may formerly have been unsuitable, or dispersal to suitable distant habitats may have been prevented by a geographical barrier, such as the sea or mountain chains. Extinction of subpopulations at the far limits of the species due to abiotic or biotic environmental changes are common. The profound goal of every species seems to be biblical: to reproduce and fill the land. To survive as a species, individuals must colonize new suitable habitats whenever a suitable window opens. Especially small meta-populations are prone to become extinct locally due to stochastic variation (Hanski 1998, Liebhold & Bascompte 2003).

2.2 Biological invasions

The introduction and spread of species outside their native indigenous distribution range, termed hereafter biological invasions, are increasing with growing world trade and tourism. Biological invasions are considered to be one of most serious threats to biodiversity (Armstrong 1995, Wilcove *et al.* 1998, Liebhold 2003) and human economics (OTA, 1993, Heikkilä & Peltola 2004, Pimentel *et al.* 2004).

Defining biological invasion is not easy, since not all of the invasive species are invasive. The term "invasive" is more or less defined by the impact of a species on a new environment or economic interests than by its capability to colonize new continents. Species that spread through human action into new areas, causing direct negative impact on the environment or economy are most often called invasive species or alien pests. Species that do not cause such an impact are more commonly called exotic, non-indigenous or non-native species. Though not having a direct negative impact, all of the species that inhabit a new continent may still alter the functioning of the ecosystem (Jenkins *et al.* 1999, O'Dowd 2003, Lovet *et al.* 2002, Holt & Lawton 1993, Koch 2003, Boettner *et al.* 2000, Vermeij 1996, Hänfling & Kollmann 2002).

Human-aided biological invasions are no new event; they have been going on ever since humans migrated to new areas. Schoolbook examples of invasive species are the introduction of *Rattus exulans* Peale by Polynesian voyagers (Atkinson and Towns 2001) and *R. rattus* L., *R. norvegicus* Berkenhout and *Felis catus* L. by European explorers, missionaries and mercantile fleets to Pacific islands (Anon. 1899, Innes 2001). The introduction of species to new areas has accelerated widely due to the increasing mobility of people and goods over the past few decades (Sailer 1978 and 1983, Niemelä & Mattson 1996, Work *et al.* 2005, McCullough *et al.* 2006). Secondly, together with the growing movement of commodities and people, the disturbance of habitats has increased the number of invasions, not by increasing the number of arrivals, but making habitats more prone to invasions (Liehold *et al.* 1995, Marvier *et al.*2004).

3. STAGES OF BIOLOGICAL INVASIONS

The process of invasion is commonly divided into separate stages for examinational purposes. These stage are referred as; **1. Arrival**, the transportation of individuals of a species to new areas, **2. Establishment**, the forming of a self-sustaining population in the new area and **3. Spread**, the expanding of distribution to contiguous suitable habitats and interaction with the surrounding ecosystem (Liebhold *et al.* 1995, Vermeij 1996, Carroll & Dingle 1996). This thesis focuses mainly on the factors that affect the second stage, i.e. the establishment phase of invasion: how abiotic and biotic factors constrain, limit or favor the establishment of a species.

3.1 Arrival – pathways and origin

The study of arrival and introduction involve the study of donor biota and regions, potential dispersers and their vectors, and pathways (Vermeij 1996). Why are some species or species from certain biota and regions good dispersers and which pathways are the most prominent for introduction?

Today, dispersal of individuals of herbivorous forest insects to a new continent or over large distances within a continent is almost always enhanced by human activities (Sailer 1978, Sailer 1983, Mattson *et al.* 1994, Humble & Allen 2001, Yan *et al.* 2001, Work *et al.* 2005). Introductions have been either inadvertent or intentional. Many arthropods are introduced with trade commodities with which they are associated, and several invertebrates and fungi have been intentionally released for biological control (Lacey *et al.* 2001, Morrison *et al.* 2005). It is not surprising that in a historical perspective, the unintentional introductions have reflected commerce and immigration patterns. As an example, parallel commerce between North America and Europe has greatly unified fauna between these continents, whereas the modes of transportation through time have reflected the fauna that arrive (Sailer 1978, Sailer 1983, Mattson *et al.* 1994, Niemelä & Mattson 1996). The movement of land arthropods in sand-ballasted frigates has changed, and now mussels are transported in water-ballasted cargo vessels.

Some species are more prone to be dispersed and introduced into new regions than others (Vermeij 1996, Niemelä & Mattson 1996), and in addition, some pathways favor immigrant insects more than others (Kiritani & Yamamura 2004, Haack 2006, Brockerhoff *et al.* 2006). In addition it has been thought that some biota or regions hold more potential dispersers (Vermeij 1996, Niemelä & Mattson 1996). The number of arriving individuals of species directly affects the size of the founder population and its vulnerability to extinction. The number of arriving individuals is called propagule pressure. Between 1985 and 2000, the United States Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service (APHIS) intercepted 500 000 insects in quarantine inspections (Haack 2006). Yearly, there are about 53 000 interceptions of non-indigenous species in the USA (Pimentel *et al.* 2000), and the number of interceptions for a species may be from one single to several hundreds per year. Recurrent introductions of species can increase the likelihood of establishing a founder population in a new area (Von Holle & Simberloff 2005, Lockwood 2005, Brockerhoff *et al.* 2006), reinforce the size of an already established population and in addition, reinforce it by bringing genetic variability to the population (Stepien *et al.* 2002, Kolbe *et al.* 2004).

3.2 Establishment

Establishment is the process of forming a persistent population. Many species are introduced so often and in such high numbers that they seem virtually persistent, but are still unable to form a locally reproducing population. An estimated 10% of inadvertently introduced immigrant phytophagous insects establish themselves, and as many as approximately 20 to 40% of intentionally introduced biological control agents establish permanent populations (Lewis & Kareiva 1993, Williamson & Fitter 1996).

By arriving in a novel distant area, the introduced species face the new abiotic and biotic constraints or opportunities, which determine the success of the species. Founder populations are often small and more prone to extinction by stochastic factors in the novel environment (Hanski 1998, Liebhold & Bascompte 2003). These factors are random incidents of population demography, environmental fluctuations, catastrophes and genetic changes in population. Thus they are driven by the before-mentioned abiotic and biotic forces in the new environment. As this thesis emphasizes these two forces enhancing or suppressing establishment, I will consider them in detail.

3.2.1 Abiotic factors

On arrival in a novel region, the introduced species will face the physical environment of the new range, which it must adapt to (Vermeij 1996, Niemelä & Mattson 1996, Holway *et al.* 2002 and references therein). At first hand the prevailing climate and landscape will determine whether the new area is habitable by the immigrant species. Generally a good match between physical factors of the donor habitat and the new habitat of the immigrant species will increase the probability of establishment. This match between distant areas is also called biogeographical similarity. Biogeography entails abiotic physical factors, such as climate and phenology defined by latitude, as well as biotic factors, which are dealt with in the next chapter.

Adaptation to the prevalent climate plays a crucial role in establishing a population in a new continent after arrival. Climate has been pointed out as a major factor affecting distribution, i.e. the survival of poikilothermic animals, in a given area (Andrewartha and Birch 1954). Seasonal climate patterns, particularly moisture and temperature, can be also crucial, especially for introduced forest pathogens. To infect suitable hosts, develop a disease and survive, correct temperature (e.g. warmer winters, milder summers) and correct moisture content (e.g. fog, rainfall, less snow cover) at a critical season are the prerequisites (Marosy *et al.* 1989).

Inability to tolerate climatic conditions and weather fluctuations in a new area is one of the main reasons for extinction of the founder population of non-native species (Crawley 1986). Albeit the immigrant population would have adapted to the prevailing climate, it is still subject to stochastic variation of weather. The average climate may favor population growth and persistence at the site, but variation of weather around average conditions can drive small populations into extinction (Elton 1924). Extreme weather events alone or several unfavorable years of weather outside average values may push non-native and also native species into extinction (MacArthur 1972, Russel 1993, Solbreck 1991).

Prevailing climate defines the seasonal phenology to which the introduced species must adapt (Vermeij 1996, Niemelä & Mattson 1996). Immigrant insects must synchronize to the annual cycle in a novel region and enter or terminate the diapause at an appropriate time to survive through the unfavorable periods of weather, for example through a cold winter, a hot summer or a dry season. Insects derive their clues about the seasonal regime from temperature and the length of the day, which both are defined by latitude.

3.2.2 Biotic factors

The rate of primary production, the amount of unused resources, anthropogenic disturbance of the habitat and low species richness have been thought to be the basic principles that make some biota more prone to invasions (Elton 1958, Vermeij 1996, Levine & D'Antonio 1999, Sher & Hyatt 1999. Davis *et al.* 2000, Byers 2002). Though generalizations exist, all biota seem to be prone to invasions. Even if the immigrant phytophagous insect can withstand the physical environment of the new region, thereafter it will face new challenges of adapting to the biotic environment, which will eventually determine its fate in establishing a founder population. The invading species requires a suitable host, its native or possible congeneric and the ability to adapt to competing species, predators, parasites and pathogens in order to establish itself (Vermeij 1996, Roques *et al.* 2006, Vercher *et al.* 2005, Mattson *et al.* 2007).

The first and foremost task in a new region is to find a suitable host (Vermeij 1996, Niemelä & Mattson 1996). If native hosts are not available it must find a taxonomically related (confamilial, congeneric) host and adapt to it. Alone, the presence of available hosts in a new region is not enough. Suitable hosts must be adequately abundant for invading insects to find them. The probability of establishment for the non-native phytophagous species depends totally on the availability and abundance of the host plants that enable larval development, and in some cases maturation feeding of imago. Strictly monophagous specialists seldom adapt to hosts that are taxonomically and chemically unrelated to their native hosts (Farrel *et al.* 1992). Rigorous host plant preferences may limit the likelihood of finding a suitable host in a new region, making generalist herbivores more presumable invaders. Specialization in turn affects the finding and selection of the host (Futuyma 1991). Many species have the ability to detect their hosts' volatile chemicals from long range (Raffa 2001, Byers 2004, Bruce *et al.* 2005). This in turn enhances the finding of the host and successful establishment in a novel environment, if the species can recognize the chemical cues.

Even if native or confamilial, congeneric, hosts were dispersed widely and abundant, the phenological synchronization of the host and the insect may be crucial for successful establishment (Vermeij 1996, Niemelä & Mattson 1996). The chemical and structural composition of the potential hosts varies during the season (Crawley & Akhteruzzaman 1988, van Asch & Visser 2007). The nutritional quality of the foliage affects the growth of larvae, and in turn, their survival (Tikkanen & Julkunen-Tiitto 2003, van Asch & Visser 2007). For this reason many herbivorous species that feed on woody plants time their larval development to synchronize with bud burst, when nutritional and soft plant tissue is available. Establishment of an invading insect may not be successful if the phenological timing is not correct with the host plant, or if the invading insect cannot tolerate less edible plant material.

When a non-indigenous phytophagous insect arrives in a new region outside its native range, it has left behind its former predators, parasites, pathogens and species that compete for the same resources. This interactive web of host-herbivore-predator/parasite/pathogen is also called the tri-trophic niche (Price 1997). On arrival, successful establishment is less likely if there is no available niche to fit, i.e. an enemy- free space with accessible hosts. A clear taxonomic difference compared to resident prey species, in other words, "camouflage" from enemies, will decrease the probability of being predated on by resident predators (Lawton & Brown 1986). Without enemy- free space, the invading insect has to escape from predation by rapid population growth and dispersal. Moreover, the immigrant species will have to face the competing species, which will reduce the growth of individuals in the introduced population and in turn affect breeding success. This could be affected by exploitation competition for shared resources, interference competition through fighting or other action, and apparent competition through a shared enemy.

3.3 Dispersal

The dispersal of an indigenous species is not only a demographic and spatial stage, but also an integration phase and evolution process between the native biota and the invader (Vermeij 1996). In extreme cases an invader may cause the extinction of a native species (Vermeij 1996, Clavero & García-Berthou 2005) or a native species may drive the invader to extinction (Lawton & Brown 1986). This integration of the invader with the surrounding biota is discussed more thoroughly in the next chapter.

The process of spread is the only part of the invasion that can be clearly observed, followed and studied. Many introduced species are not detected due to the small size of the founder population (Liebhold & Tobin 2006). They are rarely caught in connection with routine surveillance trappings of insects. Introduced species are noticed after a population grows to detectable levels (Liebhold & Tobin 2006). A good example of non-detection of the arrival and establishment of a non-indigenous species is the discovery of an Asian bark beetle Scolytus schevyrewi in the USA (Negrón *et al.* 2005, Haack 2006). The species was discovered for the first time in spring 2003 in insect traps set in Denver, Colorado. By fall, it was found in fourteen other states, and closer examination of old insect collections revealed that the insect had already been collected in Colorado in 1994 and in New Mexico in 1998.

Spread involves population growth and dispersal of individuals of the species (MacArthur 1972, Liebhold & Tobin 2006). With an increase in density, the species will disperse and expand its range to adjoining areas of suitable habitat. Species differ in their ability to disperse. Individuals of sedentary species diffuse to adjoining areas when the density of the founder population increases and less sedentary species may disperse several kilometers, independent of population density (Tobin *et al.* 2004). After establishing a founder population, individuals may also be transported deliberately by human aid inside new region or continent and form new dispersal centers.

By expanding to a larger area, the species furthermore decreases its probability of becoming extinct. Species that inhabit large geographic ranges and occur abundantly locally are often less affected by stochastic changes in demographics, population genetics, and in the environment, or as a result of catastrophes (MacArthur 1972, Leigh 1981). By contrast, are the species that are consistently sparse and their distribution is geographically restricted. With expansion, the species will face the same biotic forces as in establishment. New communities will have to integrate if no free niche is available.

4. IMPACTS OF BIOLOGICAL INVASIONS

As already mentioned, the dispersal phase usually involves the integration of the invader with the surrounding biota. Invasive species may have an ecological impact on native species. The impact may occur on ecosystem, community, population, individual, or genetic level (Liebhold 1995, Vermeij 1996, Hänfling & Kollmann 2002). The phytophagous invader may have an impact on the recipient environment, e.g. by altering nutrient cycling (Jenkins *et al.* 1999, O'Dowd 2003, Lovet *et al.* 2002) through intensive leaf consumption. It may also change the predation/parasitism/herbivory regime (Holt & Lawton 1993, Koch 2003, Boettner *et al.* 2000), change competition between species (Goulson 2003) and vector new pathogens (Goulson 2003, Jacobi *et al.* 2007). The invader may also hybridize with close relatives (Brasier 2001) and also cause direct disturbance or destruction of a habitat (Liebhold *et al.* 1995, Byers 2002). These all have a huge impact on the diversity of life, from ecosystem to single gene level.

Invasive species may directly exclude native species (Goulson 2003), change community structure (Liebhold *et al.* 1995) and function (Lovet *et al.* 2002) or affect population genetics in the recipient community (Hänfling & Kollmann 2002). The chestnut blight (*Cryphonectria parasitica* Murril) that was accidentally introduced from Asia to North America had all these afore-mentioned dimensions when it spread and killed almost all the chestnut trees (Castanea spp.) in North America, a tree species that was previously dominant before the arrival of the pathogen. It almost eradicated one single species from North America and changed the community structure since chestnut trees were replaced by oaks (Quercus spp.) (Liebhold *et al.* 1995 and references therein). This change in forest composition created by Chestnut blight favored another invasive species, an insect defoliator. The Gypsy moth (*Lymantria dispar* L.), which uses oaks as its main host species. The change inflicted by these two invaders, Chestnut blight and Gypsy moth, may have altered the genetic structure of communities and individuals in the recipient biota by changing the direction of selection, although such outcomes are hard to detect and trace.

5. CLIMATE CHANGE AND BIOLOGICAL INVASIONS

Global mean surface temperature has increased by $0.4 - 0.8^{\circ}$ C over the 20th century (IPCC 2001). Anthropogenic influence on the atmosphere through increased concentrations of greenhouse gases (i.e., carbon dioxide (CO₂), methane (CH₄), nitrous oxide (N₂O), tropospheric ozone (O₃)) and aerosols has induced a climate change that affects biomes globally (Thomas *et al.* 2004, Parmesan 2006). The globally averaged surface temperature is projected to increase by $1.4 - 5.8^{\circ}$ C by the year 2100 (IPCC 2001). The estimated increase is based on the A1, A2, B1 and B2 emission scenarios by the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, abbreviated IPCC (IPCC 2001). The scenarios differ in the way they predict socio-economic growth (demographic, social, economic, and technological) worldwide and the scale of future emissions based on it.

The most prominent impact of climate change on biological invasions will be to make invasions of exotic forest pests from southern locations to northern ones more prevalent. The summer and winter temperatures are not likely to increase in an equal manner. In the boreal zone, winter temperatures are expected to rise more than summer temperatures (IPCC 2001). By raising winter temperatures that are lethal to many southern species, climate change will enable the survival of native and exotic species from more southern locations.

On a general basis, climate change will have two kinds of effect: direct effects on the physiology of herbivorous insects and indirect effects mediated through its host plants. Indirect effects of change have been noted to alter the behavior of insects and their hosts empirically and in experimental trials. The change may be either phenological, affecting the synchrony between the host and the herbivorous insect or physiological, affecting the quality of the host on which the herbivore feeds (Bezemer & Jones 1998, Veteli et al. 2002, Bale et al. 2002, Battisti 2004 and references therein). Climate change will also have direct effects on insect performance and behavior. In particular, increased temperatures will allow many species to expand their distributional ranges polewards or to higher altitudes (Parmesan et al. 1999, Thomas et al. 1999, Thomas et al. 2001, Walther et al. 2002, Root et al. 2003, Battisti 2004, Battisti et al. 2005, Battisti et al. 2006, Hickling et al. 2005), but they will also cause outbreaks more frequently (Virtanen et al. 1995, Williams & Liebhold 2002), especially by lowering lethal winter temperatures (Crozier 2004, Battisti et al. 2005, Veteli et al. 2005, Robinet et al. 2007), allowing more rapid development (Williams et al. 2003) and the production of more generations during a growing season (Hansen et al. 2001, Lange et al. 2006), and indirectly making host trees more prone to attack, e.g. by drought (Solberg 2004, Rouault et al. 2006, Schlyter et al. 2006).

6. PREDICTING AND PREVENTING INVASIONS

Besides their direct and indirect impacts on native ecosystems, invasive species cause immense economic losses. In the USA there are over 50 000 non-native species, and the economic losses which invasive species cost are almost \$ 120 billion per year in prevention and damage control (Pimental *et al.* 2004). In China there are 283 invasive non-indigenous species, which caused \$ 14.45 billion worth of economic losses (Callaway *et al.* 2006). Due to their impacts on economics and native fauna and flora, efforts are being made to prevent the unintentional introductions of non-native species.

Efforts to prevent the introduction of invasive species include quarantine regulations, inspections of imported goods and actions based on risk analysis, which are usually made for high risk species. Risk analysis is usually based on potential pathways and vectors. It estimates the likelihood of the invader to establishing itself and becoming invasive according to biogeographical (climate, habitat, hosts) suitability. Also, the consequences and economic losses after establishment are sometimes estimated in risk assessment. This knowledge will further be valuable when forming management strategies and policies to prevent invasions or to suppress damage by invaders.

6.1 Tools for risk analysis and prediction

Prediction tools are usually based on the climatic suitability of the area for the potential invader and sometimes on the comparison of donor and recipient biota or an estimate of free niches by niche-based modeling.

Biogeographical similarity between donor and recipient areas have been thought to be one of the most crucial issues affecting invasions of insects; this includes corresponding climate, habitats, hosts and phenological similarity (Gibbs & Wainhouse 1986, Niemelä & Mattson 1996, Vermeij 1996, Mattson *et al.* 2007). The finding that distribution of insect species is ultimately determined and altered by climate (Andrewartha and Birch 1954) has been used to determine the potential distribution ranges of potential invaders by Geographical Information System (GIS-based modeling programs or quantitatively based analyses of temperature thresholds and critical temperature values (Sutherst & Maywald 1985, Thomas *et al.* 1999, Baker *et al.* 2000, Sutherst *et al.* 2000, Williams & Liebhold 2002, Crozier & Dwyer 2006).

There is also an increasing number of GIS-based habitat models for estimating the risk of potential invaders (Thomas *et al.* 1999, Baker *et al.* 2000, Kalkhan & Stohlgren 2000, Thuiller *et al.* 2005), which are moreover aimed at evaluating the potential of exotic plants to invade a certain habitat.

Provided the climatic requirements are met, the invading species requires a suitable host for successful establishment. Host availability estimation is crucial when herbivorous insects are considered, and therefore palatability tests are conducted or estimates are made of suitable hosts for the most invasive pests (MacFarlane & Meyer 2005, MacLeod 2002). The availability of native hosts and the palatability of congeneric species in the recipient region are determinants of the species' potential to establish itself and invade a region. Possible relationships between native predators, parasites and potential competing species are difficult to estimate and they are often neglected in risk assessments.

6.2 Intergovermental and govermental organizations

The palette of organizations working with invasive species in the intergovernmental sector is very colorful. Several intergovernmental organizations develop strategies and try to unify regulations to prevent the introduction and spread of invasive species worldwide. At the other end of the spectrum are the national agencies that try to protect national nature reserves and the economy from the potential introduction of a pernicious pest species. Two very different organizations are presented in the next chapters. Both of them work with the same issue, invasive non-native species, but at different levels. One is an intergovernmental organization that works between nations and their phytosanitary agencies, and the other works on a national basis to prevent introductions of alien species by inspections and eradication programs.

6.2.1 European and Mediterranean Plant Protection Organization and quarantine pests for forestry

The European and Mediterranean Plant Protection Organization (EPPO) is an intergovernmental organization that coordinates European plant health and phytosanitary issues. Its approach is to develop international strategies for preventing the introduction of plant pests and diseases and to search for efficient control methods.

In order to assess the risk from new exotic wood boring insects, EPPO started a project in the year 2000 with the purpose of estimating the potential risks associated with the timber trade in the EPPO region and preparing diagnostic protocols for the regulated pests of the EPPO region and the European Union (EU) Member States (Orlinski 2006). Special emphasis was placed on the risk involved in timber imported from Russia and the former Soviet states. A total of 1365 potential pest species were estimated in the project, and 19 of them were recommended for addition to the EPPO lists of pests recommended for regulation, "Quarantine Pests for Forestry" (QPF).

Phytosanitary inspections of coniferous wood imported from Russia and the former Soviet states to the EU started on March 1, 2005, in connection with the QPF list and Commission Directive 2004/102/EC. Inspections were aimed at minimizing or eliminating the phytosanitary threat and protecting commercial stands and other forests within the EU from pests such as *Bursaphelenchus xylophilus* (Steiner & Bührer) and *Dendrolimus sibiricus* (Tschetverikov) associated with imported coniferous wood. Phytosanitary inspections were aimed especially at detecting the species of the EPPO A2 list, a list of quarantine pest that are locally present in the EPPO region.

6.2.2 Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service and the Port Information Network

Unlike EPPO, the Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service, APHIS is a governmental agency, which is operated by the United States Department of Agriculture (USDA). Its primary goal is to protect the agricultural and natural resources of the United States (USA). Furthermore its aim is to prevent introductions of invasive non-indigenous animals, plants and pathogens. APHIS also monitors and coordinates eradication and management for those invasive non-native pests already present.

Being responsible for executing the quarantine inspections, APHIS has gathered information on intercepted plant pests at United States ports of entry (Work *et al.* 2005, McCullough *et al.* 2006). This database is called the Port Information Network, PIN database. The PIN database has been maintained since 1985, and it gathers approximately 53 000 interceptions per year. The database enables the projection of historical trends in pathways, species and quantities of introduced species, and furthermore assists in developing strategies for preventing introductions.

7. AIMS AND METHODS OF THE STUDY

The objectives of this thesis were:

- I. to present a comprehensive checklist of the exotic phytophagous species known to have successfully invaded and become established on Europe's woody plants, from both North America and Asia
- II. to find out if species with elaborate pheromone communication systems coordinating their aggregation and mass colonization attacks in their native systems are less successful in the invasion of a novel ecosystem than species lacking these systems
- III. to resolve whether quarantined species from the EPPO A2 list, could establish viable populations in Europe and how would they react to changes in climate
- *IV. to simulate how climate change could affect the range and distribution of native insects*

The aim of objective I was approached by comprehensively deriving information on invasions from many diverse sources of the forestry, agricultural, and taxonomic entomological literature covering the past 100 or so years. Knowledge is cumulative, an insect that was identified as non-native in the mid-19th century is generally recorded as such in every checklist published since then, unless taxonomic revisions have been made. There are no fully up-to-date published or internet-based checklists for Europe except DAISIE (Delivering Alien Invasive Inventories for Europe), which is still being constructed, and therefore the search included authoritative surveys, reviews, checklists (Fauna Europea 2005), and special journal articles (e.g. EPPO, EBSCO, KLUIWERT), as well as national databases. The aim, besides that of constructing the list was to compare the invasive species in Europe with the data on European species established on woody plants in North America, and to propose some likely explanations for the vast imbalance in invasive species numbers between the two continents.

In objective II, the interception frequency data on bark and ambrosia beetles (Coleoptera: Scolytidae) from the PIN database of APHIS, as summarized in articles by Haack (2001, 2006), was used to test which factors affect the successful establishment of the species. The inspected quantity of international cargo that enters the USA is only 2%. and inspection and reporting systems are mainly targeted at high risk cargo, pathways and organisms, in other words, at those species that attack living plant material. In the case of ambrosia beetles, which attack only dead trees, they are more likely to be dismissed without reporting than bark beetles, which attack live trees. This creates an unfortunate and unavoidable bias to the data. All species that feed on fruits and seeds of trees and shrubs were excluded from the analyses; only the wood boring bark and ambrosia beetles were included. The records used comprised 2674 interceptions of 100 different bark and ambrosia beetles. Of these species 46 have established populations in the USA. Because the PIN data is biased towards the interception of high risk species attacking live trees, thus excluding many ambrosia beetles, the species that were known as established in North America (NA), but not reported in the interception records, were first removed from the statistical testing. In the second analysis, all of the species were included, whether or not there were PIN interception records of them. Nominal logistic regression was used to analyze which factors explain the probability of the species becoming established in the USA. The objective was to focus primarily on the importance of innate host finding and colonizing strategies, and secondarily on breeding strategies or interception rate as predictors of invasion success.

In objective III the potential distributions for three bark beetle species (Coleoptera: Scolytidae): *Ips hauseri, I. subelongatus* and *Scolytus morawitzi* and three long horned species (Coleoptera: Cerambycidae); *Aeolesthes sarta, Tetropium gracilicorne* and *Xylotrechus altaicus* from the Eppo A2 list were simulated with CLIMEX. The physiological parameters used in modeling were based on reviews of Russian entomological literature (Eppo 2005a, b, c, d, e, f and references therein). The literature did not cover all of the needed physiological parameters, and therefore the final fitting was carried out by estimation on the basis of the species' current distributions and seasonal phenology as an iterative geographic fitting procedure.

The simulations were based on climatic factors only, and other factors that might affect the possibility of these species becoming established in Europe, such as potential host species, were discussed briefly and speculatively. Together with potential distribution prediction, the possible distribution of these species by climate change was also considered. The SRES (Special Report on Emissions Scenarios) emission scenario A1B (IPCC 2001) was used in this study of the various climate change scenarios. According to the A1B scenario, the global mean temperature will rise by approx. 2.9°C by the year 2100.

In objective IV, the range and distribution of two important lepidopteran forest defoliators, the Nun moth (*Lymantria monacha*) and the Gypsy moth (*Lymantria. dispar*) were simulated with CLIMEX-modelling software, with and without climate change scenarios. The parameter values used in the study were derived from the literature, and the final fitting was done by estimation on the basis of the species' current distributions and seasonal phenologies in Europe (Distribution maps of insect pests 1955, Schwenke 1978, Distribution maps of insect pests 1981, Carter 1984, Marttila *et al.* 1996, Hulden *et al.* 2000, Hydén *et al.* 2006) as an iterative geographic fitting procedure.

The analysis is biased towards the species' potential to be significant defoliators in Northern Europe as a result of climate change, using IPCC's third assessment report on climate change. The globally averaged surface temperature is projected to increase by $1.4 - 5.8^{\circ}$ C by the year 2100, based on the A1, A2, B1 and B2 scenarios (IPCC 2001). The scenarios differ in the way they predict socio-economic growth and new technologies. In this study, the potential geographical ranges are simulated using three different temperatures varying within these limits: 1.4, 3.6 and 5.8°C.

8. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

8.1 Checklist of nonnative species in Europe and species characteristics in establishment

We listed 109 exotic phytophagous insects that have invaded and established populations in Europe. 57 of them are from North America (NA) and 52 from Asia (A). Four orders account for about 84% of the immigrants: Homoptera 39%, Lepidoptera 13%, Coleoptera 19%, and Hymenoptera 13%. The majority of these invasive species (63% of NA and 77% of A) live on deciduous trees, of which 36% have been introduced from NA and Asia. The remaining insect species (37% NA and 25% A) live on various conifers, of which 53% have also been introduced. Most (57%) of the NA insects feeding on coniferous plants live on their introduced, native host plants. Lists are never static since new species are continuously arriving and populations of those already established may die out ??due to the stochastic nature of small founder populations (Hanski 1998, Liebhold & Bascompte 2003).

As previously discussed, establishment is governed by suitability of climate, i.e. biogeographical similarity, but also by (1) species richness/abundance in donor population and recipient population, (2) propagule pressure, (3) ecological opportunities on arrival (level of primary production, hosts, enemies, etc.) and (4) the ecological competitiveness of invaders (Sailer 1983; Spence 1990; Vermeij 1991; Niemelä and Mattson 1996 and references therein). Various studies have been made attempting to resolve the ultimate factor for invasiveness. When we listed the immigrant insects in Europe to date and their host plants, and then compared the number of phytophagous insects that have invaded the US from Europe, we found the same biased insect trade pattern that Niemelä and Mattson (1996) discovered. There are over threefold more European invasive phytophagous insects in the US than vice versa, though number of immigrant insects has increased by 13% in the US and 40% in Europe since Niemelä and Mattson's 1996 article. On the basis of comparative analysis, the most likely explanation for biased invasiveness were the two latter explanations: 3. Ecological opportunities on arrival through availability, abundance

and quality of hosts, number of competitors and enemies and 4. Ecological competitiveness of invader through evolutionary history of the species, e.g. tolerating wide-amplitude population fluctuations, adoption of favorable photoperiod and thermal regime synchrony.

The data suggest that many NA immigrant phytophagous species in Europe have been successful in establishing permanent populations because their native hosts preceded or accompanied them into Europe and/or were asexually reproducing species. Fewer invasive phytophagous insects may have become established in European compared to North American woodlands because of the unique legacy of the European Pleistocene/Holocene crucible (i.e. endless cycles of populations contracting into highly disparate, dispersed metapopulation refugia and eventually expanding out of them), and the greater anthropogenic impact on European species and ecosystems that caused highly diminished heterogeneity (Niemelä & Mattson 1996). This translates into fewer and less penetrable tritrophic niches in Europe due to the lower numbers and availability of host plants, but at the same time the higher zootic resistance per niche deriving from more competition-hardened competitors and possibly more natural enemies. Moreover, many European species are probably superior invasion specialists due to the crucible-favored traits that are conducive to success in highly subdivided and extinction-prone metapopulations: asexual reproduction, polyploidy, and other traits especially conducive to persistence under stress and explosive growth/spread under amelioration.

The ecological competitiveness of invaders hypothesis was also one of the explanatory factors for invasiveness, when the number of interceptions and establishments of bark and ambrosia beetles in the US was compared and tests were conducted to find out whether the invasive species' host colonization behavior (population aggregation pheromone signaling) and reproductive traits (out- vs. inbreeding) substantially affect their ability to establish populations. Propagule pressure has earlier been suggested by Brockerhoff *et al.* (2006) as an explanation for the probability of successful establishment by invasive bark beetles, but evidence is so far weak.

Out of the 46 bark and ambrosia beetle species that have become established in the US, only 12 (26%) are true bark beetles. Seven (15%) species of the newly established species use aggregation pheromones for orientation and are also sexually breeding. Thirty-nine (85%) of the established species do not use such pheromones. Of these, seven (18%) are sexually breeding.

The study demonstrated that there is a significant positive relationship between beetle establishment and interception numbers. Furthermore, the analyses also strongly suggested that species not employing aggregation pheromones are much more likely to establish themselves than those using pheromones. In addition, species having some form of asexual reproduction were more likely to become established than purely sexual species, at least in the full data set comprising all of the intercepted bark and ambrosia beetles. In the reduced data set comprising species found only in PIN interceptions, breeding strategy was not statistically significant. However, it is known that 37 out of 50 established invasive bark and ambrosia beetles are capable of asexual reproduction.

The analysis suggests that beetles that employ population aggregation pheromones in tree colonization are apparently less successful invaders than those that colonize trees without such aggregation pheromones, though many of the former are considered highly evolved, aggressive, tree killing species. Also, species capable of asexual reproduction, and sib mating were apparently more successful invaders. Although many pheromone signaling bark beetles are frequently and abundantly intercepted, they have seldom established invasive populations on novel hosts. The results presuppose that such bark beetles are typically poorer invaders because they and their rich coterie of mutualistic symbionts form a complex community, whose physiology and behavior is so closely chemical co-evolved with one another and their ancestral host trees that it constrains their potential colonizing opportunities to very close host congeners not usually found in distant novel environments.

8.2 Risk assessment based on climate modeling

Adapting to prevalent climate plays a crucial role in establishing a population in a new continent after arrival in a novel region or continent. We found that all of the studied EPPO A2 - QPF listed wood boring insects, *A. sarta, T. gracilicorne, X.* altaicus, I. hauseri, I. subelongatus and *S. morawitzi*, had a potential for establishment in Europe according to climatic suitability.

For only one of the species simulated, *A. sarta*, did our model project difficulties in establishing populations in the central and northern parts of Europe. All of the other species had potential to establish themselves practically anywhere in Europe except the most southerly parts, which again were suitable for *A. sarta*.

Climatic and CLIMEX-model based pest risk assessments have been criticized for dismissing other factors that affect the probability of establishment, such as range of host plants and potential predators, and parasites. Criticism of this methodology has been presented by many researchers (e. g. Davis *et al.* 1998; Samways *et al.* 1999), while others claim that, when adequate data for the species studied are missing, this method may be the only choice available (Baker *et al.* 2000). On the other hand, knowledge of the bioclimatic suitability of an area for the pest provides information on its establishment potential, since the distribution of poikilothermic animals is ultimately determined by climatic factors (Andrewartha and Birch 1954). Together with distributions of potential host trees, simulated models of potential distribution constitute the first stage in pest risk assessment.

Lack of native or congeneric host plants has been shown to limit the establishment of exotic herbivore insects (Niemelä & Mattson 1996, Roques 2006), but favorable climatic conditions, and also the presence of host trees in many of the European forests, commercial stands and in urban areas, make establishment possible for the studied species. Distributions of hosts for the studied species are not continuous, and these discontinuities will limit and slow down spreading if they become established in Europe. It is, however, unlikely that the establishment of these species would be inhibited by lack of suitable host trees.

There is as yet no evidence of the successful establishment of any of the studied species in Europe, but *I. subelongatus, T. gracilicorne* and *X. altaicus* have been intercepted in phytosanitary inspections within Europe (Siitonen 1990, Krehan & Holzschuh 1999). Only *A. sarta* has been reported as introduced in Europe (Oelschläger 1971). The species was found in field survey in Austria, but it has not established itself.

8.3 Effect of climate change on native and potential invasive species

Both of the studied native European Lymantriid species reacted by a northward shift of distribution range when tested with IPCC's (2001) three different climate change scenarios. The climate warming scenarios shifted the northern boundary of the distribution for both of these species north by approx. 500–700 km. The southern edge of the ranges also retracted northwards by 100–900 km. The summer and winter temperatures are not likely to increase

24

in an equal manner. In the boreal zone, winter temperatures are expected to rise more than summer temperatures (IPCC 2001). Even though we did not consider the winter and summer temperature changes separately, as Crozier and Dwyer (2006) did in their analysis with *Atalopedes campestris* (Lepidoptera: Hesperiidae), the range shift was remarkably similar to that presented in their study. These range shifts are also remarkably similar to empirical findings of Parmesan *et al.* (1999), which analysed the geographical ranges of butterfly species and found that of 35 analysed species, the northern boundaries of 22 species had shifted northwards by 35 to 240 km while 2 had shifted southwards during the last century. Furthermore, an analysis of 51 species of British butterflies showed that 11 species had expanded their range in the northern part of their distributional range (Hill *et al.* 2002). Other data supporting the hypothesis that winter warming in particular is driving insect range expansion to the north were found by Walther *et al.* (2002), Crozier (2004) and Battisti *et al.* (2005).

The processes for these margin changes in ranges may be both ecological and evolutionary. If abiotic factors such as temperature allow, habitat breadth can be increased as well as dispersal tendencies, which may result in extraordinarily rapid dispersal into new areas across habitat disjunctions that would have constituted barriers to dispersal (Thomas *et al.* 2001). For the studied species, the poleward shift could be relatively slow, since they are fairly sedentary, occasionally reaching outbreak densities in core areas of their distribution (Schwenke 1978, Bejer 1988, Maksimov, S. 1999). However, the rates of local extinctions and colonizations within the margins of their range may be quite rapid (e. g. Parmesan *et al.* 1999, Thomas *et al.* 2001).

The studied EPPO A2 – QPF listed wood boring insects responded to climate change scenarios like the two studied Lymantriid species, by a shift of the northern boundary of their potential distribution in Europe. The range shift varied from 200 to 1100 km. On the whole, climate change will make biological invasions of species from southern locations more prevalent, especially by raising lethal winter temperatures. As almost all of the studied species are already capable of inhabiting practically any part of Europe, climate change would only have an effect on the species if they were already established in Europe. In that case climate change would appear as a range shift, or as suggested generally for wood borers and bark beetles, it would become more detrimental, as the prolonged growing season would lead to multivoltinism, in the absence of extreme temperatures in winter that diminish population levels and possible shifts to novel host plants (Liebhold *et al.* 1995; Ayres and Lombardero 2000, Volney and Fleming 2000, Battisti 2004, Veteli *et al.* 2005, Battisti *et al.* 2006, Stastny *et al.* 2006).

9. CONCLUSIONS

Human-induced inadvertent introductions of invasive forest insects have become a serious threat to biodiversity and the economy, causing disturbance or direct damage to natural forests and commercial stands. The rates of forest pest invasions have increased with increased trade and travel between and within continents. There are 109 exotic phytophagous species known to have successfully invaded and established themselves on Europe's woody plants, from both North America and Asia, and more will invade as international trade continues and its volume increases.

Risk analysis of potential invaders is a way of preventing or suppressing the number of potential invaders. Recognition of potential invaders and their major pathways help to in prevent or reduce introductions, since not all of the imported exotic insects are invasive, nor manage to establish themselves in novel environments. Successful colonization is governed by several factors independent of or dependent on the invading species. The most prominent factors governing successful establishment are the ecological opportunities on arrival and the competitiveness of the invader. Suitable climate and available host species are the most prominent factors, but species abilities or life history traits, e.g. wide tolerance of hosts, asexuality and tolerance of population gaps, enhance the possibility of establishment. Also, the number of invading individuals, i.e. the propagule pressure, may be important in increasing the probability of establishing a viable population.

The risk of establishment is most severe where the main host species for the potential invader occurs naturally or is widely cultivated. Climatic comparisons and simulations of climatically or biogeographically suitable areas for targeted high risk species have become increasingly important in targeting preventive or eradicative efforts where they are most needed, as we found the possibility of six EPPO A2 – QPF listed wood boring insects, *A. sarta, T. gracilicorne, X. altaicus, I. hauseri, I. subelongatus* and *S. morawitzi*, to become established in Europe. Even though the impact of the exotic species in a novel environment is always something of a guess, risk assessment evaluations lose their meaning if they are ignored.

Climate-based modeling tools are also helpful in determining the potential risks posed by climate change-induced range shifts of native and exotic insect species, although they do not allow consideration of possible changes in bottom-up or top-down regulation of the populations. These factors include e.g. resource availability, diseases, parasites and predators. Nonetheless, range shifts and potential population fluctuations of forest pests to outbreak level pose a potential threat to silviculture. This threat should be considered when planning forest management practices, as many other potential pest species are likely to migrate further north than the Lymantriid species studied here.

REFERENCES

- Andrewartha, H.G. & Birch, L.C. 1954. The distribution and abundance of animals. The University of Chicago Press, Chicago, Illinois.
- Armstrong, S. 1995. Rare plants protect Cape's water supplies. New Scientist 11: 8.
- Atkinson, I. A. E. & Towns, D. R. 2001. Advances in New Zealand mammalogy 1990-2000: Pacific rat. Journal of the Royal Society of New Zealand 31(1): 99-109.
- Ayres, M.P. & Lombardero, M.J. 2000. Assessing the consequences of global change for forest disturbance from herbivores and pathogens; The Science of the Total Environment 262: 263-286.
- Baker, R.H.A., Sansford, C.E., Jarvis, C.H., Cannon, R.J.C., MacLeod A. & Walters, K.F.A. 2000. The role of climatic mapping in predicting the potential geographical distribution of non-indigenous pests under current and future climates. Agriculture Ecosystems & Environment 82: 57-71.
- Bale, J., Masters, G., Hodkinson, I., Awmack, C., Bezemer, T., Brown, V., Butterfield, J., Coulson, J., Farrar, J., Good, J., Harrington, R., Hartley, S., Jones, T., Lindroth, R., Press, M., Syrmnioudis, I., Watt, A. & Whittaker, J. 2002. Herbivory in global climate change research: direct effects of rising temperature on insect herbivores. Global Change Biology 8: 1-16.
- Battisti, A. 2004. Forests and climate change lessons from insects. Forest@ 1(1): 17-24.
- -, Sastny, M., Netherer, S., Robinet, C., Schopf, A., Roques, A. & Larsson, S. 2005. Expansion of geographic range in the pine processionary moth caused by increased winter temperatures. Ecological Applications 15: 2084-2096.
- -, Stastny, M., Buffo, E. & Larsson S. 2006. A rapid altitudinal range expansion in the pine processionary moth produced by the 2003 climatic anomaly. Global Change Biology 12: 662-671.
- Begon, M., Harper, J.L. & Townsend, C.R. 1996. Ecology: Individuals, Populations and Communities. Blackwell Science Inc. 3rd ed. 1068p.
- Bejer, B. 1988. The nun moth in European spruce forests. In: Berryman, A.A. (ed.). Dynamics of Forest Insect Populations. Patterns, Causes, Implications. Plenun Press. New York and London. p. 211-231.
- Bezemer, T.M. & Jones, T.H. 1998. Plant-insect herbivore interactions in elevated atmospheric CO2: quantitative analyses and guild effects. Oikos 82: 212-222.
- Boettner G. H., Elkinton J. S. & Boettner C. J. 2000. Effects of a biological control introduction on three non-target native species of saturniid moth. Conservation Biology 14: 1798-1806.
- Brasier, CM. 2001. Rapid Evolution of Introduced Plant Pathogens via Interspecific Hybridization. BioScience 51(2): 123-133.
- Brockerhoff, E.G., Bain, J., Kimberley, M. & Knížek. M. 2006. Interception frequency of exotic bark and ambrosia beetles (Coleoptera: Scolytinae) and relationship with establishment in New Zealand and worldwide. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 36: 289–298.
- Bruce, T.J., Wadhams, L.J. & Woodcock, C.M. 2005. Insect host location: a volatile situation. Trends in Plant Science 10(6): 269-274.
- Byers, J. 2002. Impact of non-indigenous species on natives enhanced by anthropogenic alteration of selection regimes. OIKOS 97(3): 449-458.

- 2004. Chemical ecology of bark beetles in a complex olfactory landscape. In: Lieutier, F., Day, K.R., Battisti, A., Grégoire, J.C. & Evans, H. (ed.). Bark and Wood Boring Insects in Living Trees in Europe, a Synthesis. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, The Netherlands. p. 89-134.
- Callaway, R., Miao, S. & Guo, Q. 2006. Are trans-Pacific invasions the new wave? Biological Invasions 8: 1435–1437.
- Carroll, S.P. & Dingle, H. 1996. The Biology of Post-Invasion Events. Biological Conservation 78: 207-214.
- Carter, D.J. 1984. Pest Lepidoptera of Europe. Series Entomologica 31. Dr. W. Junk, Dordrecht, Boston, Lancaster. 431 p.
- Case, T., Holt, R., McPeek, M. & Keitt, T. 2005. The community context of species' borders: ecological and evolutionary perspectives. OIKOS 108: 28-46.
- Clavero, M. & García-Berthou, E. 2005. Invasive species are a leading cause of animal extinctions. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 20(3): 110.
- Crawley, M. J. 1986. The Population Biology of Invaders. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London 314: 711-731.
- & Akhteruzzaman, M. 1988. Individual Variation in the Phenology of Oak Trees and Its Consequences for Herbivorous Insects. Functional Ecology 2(3): 409-415.
- Crozier, L. 2004. Warmer winters drive butterfly range expansion by increasing survivorship. Ecology 85: 231–241.
- & Dwyer. G. 2006. Combining population-dynamic and ecophysiological models to predict climate-induced insect range shifts. American Naturalist 167: 853-866.
- Davis, M.A., Grime, J.P. & Thompson, K. 2000. Fluctuating resources in plant communities: a general theory of invasibility. Journal of Ecology 88: 528–534.
- Davis, A.J. Jenkinson, L.S., Lawton, J.H., Shorrocks, B. & Wood, S. 1998. Making mistakes when predicting shifts in species range in response to global warming. Nature 391: 783-786.
- Elton, C.S. 1924. Periodic Fluctuations in the Numbers of Animals: Their Causes and Effects. Journal of Experimental Biology 2: 119-163.
- 1958. The Ecology of Invasions by Animals and Plants. Chapman and Hall, London. 181
 p.
- Eppo 2005a. Data sheets on quarantine pests *Aeolesthes sarta*. EPPO Bulletin 35(3): 387–389.
- 2005b. Data sheets on quarantine pests *Tetropium gracilicorne*. EPPO Bulletin 35(3): 402–405.
- 2005c. Data sheets on quarantine pests *Xylotrechus altaicus*. EPPO Bulletin 35(3): 406–408.
- 2005d. Data sheets on quarantine pests Ips hauseri. EPPO Bulletin 35(3): 450-452.
- 2005e. Data sheets on quarantine pests *Ips cembrae* and *Ips subelongatus*. EPPO Bulletin 35(3): 445-449.
- 2005f. Data sheets on quarantine pests *Scolytus morawitzi*. EPPO Bulletin 35(3): 396-398.
- Farrell, B.D., Mitter, C. & Futuyma, D.J. 1992. Diversification at the insect-plant interface: insights from phylogenetics. BioScience 42: 34-42.
- Futuyma, D.J. 1991. Evolution of host specificity in herbivorous insects: genetic, ecological, and phylogenetic aspects. In: Price, P.W., Lewinsohn, T.M., Fernandes, G.W., Benson, W.W. (ed.). Plant-animal interactions: evolutionary ecology in tropical and temperate regions. New York: John Wiley & Sons. p. 431-454.

- Gibbs, J.N. & Wainhouse, D. 1986. Spread of Forest Pests and Pathogens in the Northern Hemisphere. Forestry 59(2): 141-153.
- Goulson D. 2003. Effects of introduced bees on native ecosystems. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics 34: 1-26.
- Haack, R.A. 2001. Intercepted Scolytidae (Coleoptera) at U.S. ports of entry: 1985–2000. Integrated Pest Management Reviews 6: 253–282.
- 2006. Exotic bark- and wood-boring Coleoptera in the United States: recent establishments and interceptions. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 36: 269–288.
- Hansen, M., Bentz, B. & Turner, D. 2001. Temperature-based model for predicting univoltine brood proportions in spruce beetle (Coleoptera: Scolytidae). Canadian Entomologist 133: 827–841.
- Hanski, I. 1998. Metapopulation dynamics. Nature 396: 41-49.
- Hawkins, B.A., Cornell, H.V. & Hochberg, M.E. 1997. Predators, Parasitoids, and Pathogens as Mortality Agents in Phytophagous Insect Populations. Ecology 78(7): 2145-2152.
- Heikkilä, J. & Peltola, J. 2004. Analysis of the Colorado potato beetle protection system in Finland. Agricultural Economics 31: 343–352.
- Hickling, R., Roy, D., Hill, J., Fox, R. & Thomas, C. 2006. The distributions of a wide range of taxonomic groups are expanding polewards. Global Change Biology 12(3): 450-455.
- Hill, J.K., Thomas, C.D., Fox, R., Telfer, M.G., Willis, S.G., Asher, J. & Huntley, B. 2002. Responses of butterflies to twentieth century climate warming: implications for future ranges. Proceedings of The Royal Society of London Series B. Biological Sciences 269: 2163-2171.
- Holt R. D. & Lawton J. H. 1993: Apparent competition and enemy-free space in insecthost parasitoid relationship. American Naturalist 142: 623-645.
- , Keitt, T., Lewis, M., Maurer, B. & Taper, M. 2005. Theoretical models of species' borders: single species approaches. OIKOS 108: 18-27.
- Holway, D.A., Suarez, A.V. & Case, T.J. 2002. Role of Abiotic Factors in Governing Susceptibility to Invasion: A Test with Argentine Ants. Ecology 83(6): 1610-1619.
- Hänfling, B. & Kollmann, J. 2002. An evolutionary perspective of biological invasions. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 17(12): 545-555.
- Huldén, L., Albrecht, A., Itämies, J., Malinen, P. & Wettenhovi, J. 2000. Suomen suurperhosatlas (Finnish butterfly atlas). – Suomen Perhostutkijain Seura & Luonnontieteellinen keskusmuseo, Helsinki. 328 p.
- Humble, L.M. & Allen, E.A. 2001. Implications of Non-Indigenous Insect Introductions in Forest Ecosystems. In: Liebhold, A.M., McManus, M.L., Otvos, I.S., Fosbroke, S.L. (ed.) 2001. Proceedings: Integrated management and dynamics of forest defoliating insects; 1999 August 15-19. Victoria, BC. General Technical Report NE-277. p. 45-55.
- Hydén, N., Jilg, K. & Östman, T. 2006. Nationalnyckeln till Sveriges flora och fauna. Fjärilar: Ädelspinnare - tofsspinnare. ArtDatabanken, SLU, Uppsala. 480 p.
- Innes, J. 2001. Advances in New Zealand mammalogy 1990-2000: European rats. Journal of the Royal Society of New Zealand 31: 111-125.
- IPCC 2001. IPCC third assessment report, Climate change 2001: a synthesis report. Summary for policymakers. IPCC Plenary XVIII. Wembley, United Kingdom. 34 p.
- Jacobi, W. R., Koski, R. D., Harrington, T. C., & Witcosky, J. J. 2007. Association of Ophiostoma novo-ulmi with Scolytus schevyrewi (Scolytidae) in Colorado. Plant Disease 91: 245-247.

- Jenkins J. C., Aber J. D. & Canham C. D. 1999. Hemlock woolly adelgid impacts on community structure and N cycling rates in eastern hemlock forests. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 29: 630-645.
- Kalkhan, M. & Stohlgren, T. 2000. Using Multi-Scale Sampling and Spatial Cross-Correlation to Investigate Patterns of Plant Species Richness. Environmental Monitoring and Assessment 64: 591–605.
- Kiritani, K. & Yamamura, K. 2003. Exotic Insect and Their Pathways for Invasions. In: Ruiz, G.M. & Carlton, J.T. (ed.). Invasive Species: Vectors and Management Strategies. Island Press, Washington, DC. p. 44-67.
- Koch R. L. 2003: The Multicolored Asian Lady Beetle, *Harmonia Axyridis*: A Review of Its Biology, Uses in Biological Control, and Non-target Impacts. Journal of Insect Science 3(32): 1-16.
- Kolbe, J.J., Glor, R.E., Schettino, L.R., Lara, A.C., Larson, A. & Losos, J.B. 2004. Genetic variation increases during biological invasion by a Cuban lizard. Nature 431: 177-181.
- Krehan, H. & Holzschuh, C. 1999. Neue Importholzschädlinge aus Sibirien. Forstschutz Aktuell. Nr. 23/24: 9–12.
- Lacey, L. A., Frutos, R., Kaya, H. K. & Vail, P. 2001. Insect Pathogens as Biological Control Agents: Do They Have a Future? Biological Control 21: 230–248.
- Lange, H., Økland, B. & Krokene, P. Thresholds in the life cycle of the spruce bark beetle under climate change. Interjournal for Complex Systems 1648.
- Lawton, J.H. Brown, K.C. 1986. The Population and Community Ecology of Invading Insects. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B 314: 607-617.
- Leigh, E.G. 1981. The average lifetime of a population in a varying environment. Journal of Theoretical Biology 90(2): 213-239.
- Levine, J.M. & D'Antonio, C.M. 1999. Elton revisited: a review of evidence linking diversity and invasibility. OIKOS 87: 15–26.
- Lewis M. A. & Kareiva P. 1993. Allee Dynamics and the Spread of Invading Organisms. Theoretical Population Biology 43(2): 141-158.
- Liebhold, A.M. 2003. Alien Species as Agents of Global Change Ecology and Management of the Gypsy Moth in North America as a Case History. In: Kamata, N. ed., Proceedings International Symposium of the Kanazawa University 21st Century COE Program Volume 1. p. 71-75.
- , MacDonald, W.L., Bergdahl, D. & Mastro, V.C. 1995. Invasion by exotic forest pests: a threat to forest ecosystems. Forest Science Monographs 30: 1-49.
- & Bascompte, J. 2003. The Allee effect, stochastic dynamics and the eradication of alien species. Ecology Letters 6: 133–140.
- & Tobin, P.C. 2006 Growth of newly established alien populations: comparison of North American gypsy moth colonies with invasion theory. Population Ecology 48: 253–262.
- Lockwood, J.L., Cassey, P. & Blackburn, T. 2005. The role of propagule pressure in explaining species invasions. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 20(5): 223-228.
- Lovett G. M., Christenson L. M., Groffman P. M, Jones C. G., Hart J. E. & Mitchell M. J. 2002. Insect defoliating and nitrogen cycling in forests. Bioscience 52: 335-341.
- Marosy, M., Patton, R.F., & Upper, C.D. 1989. Spore Production and Artificial Inoculation Techniques for *Gremmeniella abietina*. Phytopathology 79(11): 1290-1293.
- MacArthur, R.H. 1972. Geographical Ecology Patterns in the Distribution of Species. Harper & Row Pub. Inc. New York. 269 p.

- Mack, R.N., Simberloff, D., Lonsdale, W.M., Evans, H., Clout, M., Bazzaz, F.A., 2000. Biotic invasions: causes, epidemiology, global consequences, and control. Ecological Applications 10: 689–710.
- Marttila, O., Saarinen K., Haahtela, M. & Pajari, M. 1996. Suomen kiitäjät ja kehrääjät. Kirjayhtymä Oy, Helsinki. 384 p.
- Marvier, M., Kareiva, P. & Neubert, M.G. 2004. Habitat Destruction, Fragmentation and Disturbance Promote Invasion by Habitat Generalists in a Multispecies Metapopulation. Risk Analysis 24(4): 869–878.
- Mattson, W.J., Niemelä, P., Millers, I. & Inguanzo, Y. 1994. Immigrant phytophagous insects on woody plants in the United States and Canada: an annotated list. General Technical Report NC-169. St. Paul, MN: U.S. Dept. of Agriculture, Forest Service, North Central Forest Experiment Station.
- McCullough, D.G., Work, T.T., Cavey, J.F., Liebhold, A.M., & Marshall, D. 2006. Interceptions of nonindgenous plant pests at US ports of entry and border crossings over a 17-year period. Biological Invasions 8: 611-30.
- MacFarlane, D.W. & Meyer, S.P. 2005. Characteristics and distribution of potential ash tree hosts for emerald ash borer. Forest Ecology and Management 213(1-3): 15-24.
- MacLeod, A., Evans, H.F. & Baker, R.H.A. 2002. An analysis of pest risk from an Asian longhorn beetle (*Anoplophora glabripennis*) to hardwood trees in the European Community. Crop Protection 21: 635–645.
- Maksimov, S. 1999. On Factors Responsible for Population Outbreaks in Nun Moth (*Lymantria monacha* L.). Russian Journal of Ecology 30(1): 47-51.
- Morrison, L.W. & Porter, S. D. 2005. Phenology and parasitism rates in introduced populations of *Pseudacteon tricuspis*, a parasitoid of *Solenopsis invicta*. BioControl 50: 127-141.
- Negrón, J., Witcosky, J., Cain, R., LaBonte, J., Duerr, D., McElwey, S., Lee, J. & Seybold, S. 2005. The banded elm bark beetle: a new threat to elms in North America. American Entomologist 51(2). 84-94.
- Niemelä, P. & Mattson, WJ. 1996. Invasion of North American forests by European phytophagous insects: legacy of the European crucible? BioScience 46: 741-753.
- O'Dowd D. J., Green P. T. & Lake P.S. 2003: Invasion "meltdown" on an oceanic island. Ecology Letters 6: 812-817.
- OTA, 1993. Harmful Non-indigenous Species in the United States. U.S. Congress, Office of Technology Assessment, OTA-F-565. U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, D.C.
- Parmesan C. Ryrholm, N. Stefanescu C., Hill J. K., Thomas C. D., Descimon H., Huntley B., Kaila L., Kullberg J., Tammaru T., Tennent W. J., Thomas J. A. & Warren M. 1999. Poleward shifts in geographical ranges of butterfly species associated with regional warming. Nature 399: 579-583.
- -, Gaines, S., Gonzalez, L., Kaufman, D., Kingsolver, J., Peterson, A. & Sagarin, R. 2005. Empirical perspectives on species borders: from traditional biogeography to global change. OIKOS 108: 58-75.
- 2006. Ecological and Evolutionary Responses to Recent Climate Change. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics 37: 637 -669.
- Pimentel, D., Lach, L., Zuniga, R. & Morrison, D. 2004. Update on the environmental and economic costs associated with alien invasive species in the United States. Bioscience 50(1): 53–67.
- Price, P. 1997. Insect Ecology. 3rd edition. John Wiley & Sons, Inc. New York. 874 p.

- Oelschläger, H. 1971. Ein Fund von *Aeolesthes sarta* (Solsky 1871) am Neusiedler See. Entomologische Blatter 3: 132-136.
- Raffa, K.F. 2001. Mixed messages across multiple trophic levels: the ecology of bark beetle chemical communication systems. Chemoecology 11: 49–65.
- Ricciardi, A. 2007 Are Modern Biological Invasions an Unprecedented Form of Global Change? Conservation Biology 21(2): 329–336.
- Robinet, C., Baier, P., Pennerstorfer, J., Schopf, A. & Roques, A. 2007. Modelling the effects of climate change on the potential feeding activity of *Thaumetopoea pityocampa* (Den. & Schiff.) (Lep., Notodontidae) in France. Global Ecology and Biogeography 16: 460-471.
- Rouault, G., Candeau, J.N., Lieutuer, F., Martin, J.C., Grégoire, J.C., Nageleisen, L.M. & Landmann, G. 2006. Effect of drought and heat on forest insect populations in relation to the 2003 drought in Western Europe, Annals of Forest Science 63: 611–622.
- Root, T.L., Price, J.T., Hall, K.R., Schneider, S.H., Rosenzweig, C. & Pounds, J.A. 2003. Fingerprints of global warming on wild animals and plants. Nature 421: 57-60.
- Roques, A., Auger-Rozenberg, M-A., Boivin, S. 2006. A lack of native congerners may limit colonization of introduced conifers by indigenous insects in Europe. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 36: 299-313.
- Russsel, L. 1993. Risks of Population Extinction from Demographic and Environmental Stochasticity and Random Catastrophes. American Naturalist 142(6): 911-927.
- Sailer, R.I. 1978. Our Immigrant Insect Fauna. Bulletin of the Entomological Society of America 24(1): 3-11.
- 1983. History of insect introductions. In: Wilson CL & Graham CL. (ed.) Exotic plant pests and North American agriculture, Academic Press, New York. P. 15-38.
- Samways, M.J., Osrorn, R., Hastings, H. & Hattingh, V. 1999. Global climate change and accuracy of prediction of species' geographical ranges: establishment success of introduced ladybirds (Coccinellidae, *Chilocorus* spp.) worldwide. Journal of Biogeography 26: 795-812.
- Schlyter, P., Stjernquist, I., Barring, L., Jönsson, AM. & Nilsson, C. 2006. Assessment of the impacts of climate change and weather extremes on boreal forests in northern Europe, focusing on Norway Spruce. Climate Research 31: 75–84.
- Sher, A.A. & Hyatt, L.A. 1999. The disturbed resource-flux invasion matrix: a new framework for patterns of plant invasion. Biological Invasions 1: 107–114.
- Siitonen, J. 1990. Potential forest pest beetles convoyed to Finland on timber imported from the Soviet Union. Silva Fennica 24(3): 315-321.
- Solberg, S. 2004. Summer drought: a driver for crown condition and mortality of Norway spruce in Norway. Forest Pathology 34: 93–104.
- Solbreck, C. 1991. Unusual Weather and Insect Population Dynamics: *Lygaeus equestris* during an Extinction and Recovery Period. OIKOS 60(3): 343-350.
- Spence, J.R. 1990. Success of European carabid species in Western Canada: preadaptation for synanthropy? In: Stork, N.E. (ed.) The role of ground beetles in ecological and environmental studies, Intercept, Andover, Hampshire. P. 129-141.
- Stastny, M., Battisti, A., Petrucco-Toffolo, E., Schlyter, F. & Larsson, S. 2006. Host-plant use in the range expansion of the pine processionary moth, *Thaumetopoea pityocampa*. Ecological Entomology 31: 481-490.
- Stepien, C.A., Taylor, C.D. & Dabrowska, K.A. 2002. Genetic variability and phylogeographical patterns of a nonindigenous species invasion: a comparison of

exotic vs. native zebra and quagga mussel populations. Journal of Evolutionary Biology 15(2): 314-328.

- Sutherst, R.W. & Maywald, G. F. 1985. A computerised system for matching climates in ecology. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment 13: 281-299.
- , Maywald, G.F. & Russell, B.L. 2000. Estimating vulnerability under global change: modular modelling of pests. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment 82: 303–319.
- Schwenke, W. 1978. Die Forstchadlinge Europas. Band III. Verlag Paul Parey, Hamburg U. Berlin.
- The Rats of the Pacific Islands. 1899. The New York Times, June 11th, 1899.
- Thomas, J.A., Rose, R.J., Clarke, R.T., Thomas, C.D. & Webb, N.R. 1999. Intraspecific variation in habitat availability among ectothermic animals near their climatic limits and their centres of range. Functional Ecology 13(1): 55-64.
- Thomas, C.D., Bodsworth, E.J., Wilson, R.J., Simmons, A.D., Davies, Z.G., Musche, M. & Conradt L. 2001. Ecological and evolutionary processes at expanding range margins. Nature 411: 577-581.
- -, Cameron, A., Green, R., Bakkenes, M., Beaumont, L., Collingham, Y., Erasmus, B., De Siqueira, M., Grainger, A., Hannah, L., Hughes, L., Huntley, B., Van Jaarsveld, A., Midgley, G., Miles, L., Ortega-Huerta, M., Peterson, A., Phillips, O. & Williams, S. 2004. Extinction risk from climate change. Nature 427: 145-148.
- Thuiller, W, Richardson, D.M., Pyšek, P., Midgley, G.F., Hughes, G.O. & Rouget, M. 2005. Niche-based modelling as a tool for predicting the risk of alien plant invasions at a global scale. Global Change Biology 11: 2234-2250.
- Tikkanen, O.P. & Julkunen-Tiitto, R. 2003. Phenological variation as protection against defoliating insects: the case of *Quercus robur* and *Operophtera brumata*. Oecologia 136(2): 244-251.
- Tobin, P.C., Sharov, A.A., Liebhold, A.A., Leonard, D.S., Roberts, E.A. & Learn, M.R. 2004. Management of the Gypsy Moth trough a Decision Algorithm under the STS Project. American Entomologist 50(4): 200-209.
- van Asch, M. & Visser, M.E. 2007. Phenology of Forest Caterpillars and Their Host Trees: The Importance of Synchrony. Annual Review of Entomology 52: 37-55.
- Vercher, R., Costa-Comelles, J., Marzal, C. & García-Marí, F. 2005. Recruitment of Native Parasitoid Species by the Invading Leafminer *Phyllocnistis citrella* (Lepidoptera: Gracillariidae) on Citrus in Spain. Environmental Entomology 34(5): 1129-1138.
- Vermeij, G.J. 1996. An Agenda for Invasion Biology. Biological conservation 78: 3-9.
- Veteli, T.O., Kuokkanen, K., Julkunen-Tiitto, R., Roininen, H. & Tahvanainen, J. 2002. Effects of elevated CO₂ and temperature on plant growth and herbivore defensive chemistry. Global Change Biology 8: 1240-1252.
- , Lahtinen, A., Repo, T., Niemelä, P. & Varama, M. 2005. Geographic variation in winter freezing susceptibility in the eggs of the European pine sawfly (*Neodiprion sertifer*). Agricultural and Forest Entomology 7: 115-120.
- Virtanen, T., Neuvonen, S., Nikula, A., Varama, M. & Niemelä, P. 1995. Climate Change and the Risks of *Neodiprion sertifer* Outbreaks on Scots Pine. Silva Fennica 30: 169-177.
- Volney, W.J.A. & Fleming, R.A. 2000. Climate change and impacts of boreal forest insects. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment 82(1-3): 283-294.

- Walther, G-R., Post, E., Convey, P., Menzel, A., Parmesan, C., Beebee, T.J.C., Fromentin, J-M., Hoegh-Guldberg, O. & Bairlein, F. 2002. Ecological responses to recent climate change. Nature 416: 389-395.
- Williams, D.W. & Liebhold, A.M. 2002. Climate change and the outbreak ranges of two North American bark beetles. Agricultural and Forest Entomology 4: 87-99.
- Williams, R., Lincoln, D. & Norby, R. 2003. Development of gypsy moth larvae feeding on red maple saplings at elevated CO₂ and temperature. Oecologia 137: 114-122.
- Williamson, M. & Fitter, A. 1996. The Varying Success of Invaders. Ecology 77(6): 1661-1666.
- Wilcove, D.S., Rothstein, D., Bubow, J., Phillips, A., Losos, E., 1998. Quantifying threats to imperiled species in the United States. Bioscience 48(8): 607–615.
- Work, T., McCullough, D.G., Cavey, J.G., & Komsa, R. 2005. Arrival rate of nonindigenous insect species into the United States through foreign trade. Biological Invasions 7: 323-332.
- Yan, X., Zhenyuu, L., Gregg, W. & Dianmo, L. 2001. Invasive species in China an overview. Biodiversity and Conservation 10: 1317–1341.